Selective Treatment of Symptomatic Gallstones

Morten Vetrhus

The degree Doctor Medicinae (dr. med.)

University of Bergen Bergen Norway



ISBN 82-308-0094-4

Bergen, Norway 2006

Selective Treatment of Symptomatic Gallstones

Morten Vetrhus

The Degree Doctor Medicinae (dr. med.)

Department of Surgical Sciences
University of Bergen
Bergen
Norway



2006

Contents

| Contents | 3 |
|--|----|
| Acknowledgements | 5 |
| List of papers | 7 |
| Introduction | 9 |
| Historical note | |
| Definition of gallstone disease | |
| Pathogenesis of gallstone disease | 10 |
| Prevalence | 11 |
| Natural history | 11 |
| Treatment of gallstone disease, current trends and scientific basis | 15 |
| Symptomatic, uncomplicated gallstones | 15 |
| Acute cholecystitis | 16 |
| Postcholecystectomy pain | 19 |
| Issues in the management of gallstone disease | 23 |
| Aim of studies | 25 |
| Patients and methodological concerns | 27 |
| Design of study | 27 |
| Number of patients randomized | 27 |
| Distribution of and response to survey measures | 28 |
| Quality of life and pain surveys | |
| Quality of life Pain | |
| Statistics | |
| The linear mixed-effects model | |
| Results and discussion | 35 |
| Symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stone disease, papers I & III | 35 |
| Acute cholecystitis, papers II and IV | 37 |
| Postcholecystectomy pain, paper V | 39 |
| Summary | 41 |
| Errata | 43 |
| References | 45 |
| Papers | 61 |

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to my tutor Karl Søndenaa who initiated the project and kindly invited me to follow-up

and complete the studies. His knowledge, enthusiasm and guidance has been invaluable. I am also

grateful to Odd Søreide for his thoughtful advice and academic contribution. The trials were planned

by Karl Søndenaa and Odd Søreide when they were employed at Haukeland University Hospital and

Stavanger University Hospital (formerly Rogaland Central Hospital).

Three hospitals have participated in the trials, namely Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger,

Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, and the Deacon's Hospital, Oslo and I am thankful for the

support from the staff. All patients were assessed by Karl Søndenaa, Idunn Nesvik and the late Jan

Helge Solhaug and I'm grateful for their participation and assistance in this respect. Jan Helge

Solhaug was also a member of the initial planning committee.

A 3-month scholarship at the Centre for Clinical Research, University of Bergen was of great help

and especially the statistical help and guidance given both then and later by Geir Egil Eide.

Furthermore, this work would not have been possible without the contribution and work done by Berit

Skagseth at the out patient clinic in Bergen and Bjørg Pahr-Iversen, Marit Høyven and the hospital

librarians at Stavanger University Hospital.

I appreciate the economical grants given by the Department of Surgery and the Research Committee

at Stavanger University Hospital and my chief, Jan Erling Fossdal, who allowed time off to complete

the work.

Stavanger, May 2005

Morten Vetrhus

5

List of papers

- Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Solhaug JH, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stone disease. Operation or observation? A randomized clinical study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2002; 37(7); 834-839.
- II. Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Acute cholecystitis: Delayed surgery or observation. A randomized clinical trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003; 38(9):985-990.
- III. Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Eide GE, Solhaug JH, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Pain and quality of life in patients with symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stones: Results of a randomized controlled trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004; 39(3):270-276.
- IV. Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Eide GE, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Quality of life and pain in patients with acute cholecystitis. Results of a randomized clinical trial. Scand J Surg 2005; 94(1):34-39.
- V. Vetrhus M, Berhane T, Søreide O, Søndenaa K. Pain persists in many patients five years after removal of the gallbladder: observations from two randomized controlled trials of symptomatic, noncomplicated gallstone disease and acute cholecystitis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2005; 9(6):826-31.

Introduction

Historical note

The Babylonians and Assyrians considered the liver to be the seat of the soul, and inspected the liver of a sacrificed animal to divine the future. Although disease was considered to be of demonic origin, several texts describe what probably were pain attacks of gallstone and the poor prognosis of jaundice (1). Gallstones were found in the preserved gallbladder of an Egyptian mummy from circa 1500 B.C. (2) and Alexander Trallianus, a Greek physician from the 5th or 6th century AD wrote about concretions in the liver as a possible cause of obstruction (3).

Gallstone pathology and the recognition that it may lead to fatal complications was widely recognised during the renaissance and was discussed in several treatises (3). Some of the authors seem to have suspected that gallstones could give rise to recurrent pain attacks.

A report of the first known surgical treatment, cholecystotomy for empyema, was published in 1743 (4). Cholecystotomy and cholecystostomy gained popularity, but in order to avoid the problem of an external draining biliary fistula von Winiwarter invented cholecystocolostomy in 1880 (5).

Carl Langenbuch eventually performed the first cholecystectomy in 1882 after a series of experiments on cadavers (6), and a few years later Kummel reported another innovative procedure: the first common bile duct exploration (7). In 1911 Mayo stated "the innocent gallstone is a myth" (8). This has apparently influenced the treatment policy on gallstones for decades. In 1991 an estimated 600000 cholecystectomies were performed in the USA (9) and 3000 in Norway (1995) (10).

Definition of gallstone disease

Gallstones may be defined as asymptomatic and symptomatic, with or without complications.

The term symptomatic gallstone disease refers to pain attacks of a certain pattern that is thought to be elicited by the gallstones.

Acute cholecystitis is the most common complication of gallstones. Other complications of gallstones, e.g. gallbladder cancer, gallstone ileus, common bile duct stones and acute pancreatitis are not considered here.

Pathogenesis of gallstone disease

Symptomatic, uncomplicated gallbladder stone disease

The gallbladder and bile ducts are formed from an outgrowth of the foregut (11) and hence they share the same innervation. It is therefore likely that pain in uncomplicated and complicated gallbladder disease will broadly have the same characteristics and similar location. As the structures are derived from midline structures the visceral pain experienced is often referred and not easily differentiated from pain originating in other viscera by location, quality or intensity (12). A precise location specific for the biliary tract can not be expected unless the parietal peritoneum is affected by an inflammatory process.

The most likely theory why cholelithiasis should lead to pain is stone obstruction of the cystic duct leading to increased wall tension enhanced by gallbladder spasm and associated with inflammation (13), although this has not been confirmed by clinical studies. Nevertheless, increasing pressure in the gallbladder or increased wall tension are probably factors in the production of pain. In 1933, Zollinger (14) introduced a balloon in the gallbladder lumen after having done cholecystolithotomy in a number of patients. Later, when the balloon was inflated, the patients experienced epigastric pain similar to the pain they had experienced before the operation. Pain and nausea were also experienced if the balloon was placed in the common bile duct. An identical pain pattern was triggered by stimulating the bile duct with electric current (15). These findings have been supported by a recent clinical study on patients suffering from cholecystitis (13).

Acute Cholecystitis

In acute cholecystitis (AC) an impacted stone in the gallbladder neck is thought to cause cholestasis, chemical inflammation and subsequent bacterial super infection leading to luminal gallbladder swelling and wall thickening through inflammation and oedema (16, 17). However, CT may occasionally show a dilated gallbladder even in people with asymptomatic gallstones.

Clinically it has been observed that small fibrotic and chronically inflamed gallbladders harbouring stones may cause pain. It is common experience that most gallbladders with stones (96 %) show histological signs of inflammation (18). The significance of this finding is probably small as 33 - 82 % of gallbladders without stones exhibit similar features (19, 20).

Intravenous cholangiography without gallbladder filling (21) was once interpreted as an indirect evidence of AC. It has been observed, however, that the cystic duct is patent in 83 % of cases in cholangiograms performed soon after percutaneous gallbladder drainage for acute cholecystitis (22). Again, assumption, not evidenced based medicine, is the basis of the theories on development of AC.

Prevalence

The age-adjusted prevalence of gallstones in a Norwegian study from 1987 was 17.7 % in men and 21.2 % in women (23), which is of the same magnitude or higher than reported from other Scandinavian countries (24, 25).

From the age group of 20 - 29 years to 60 - 69 years, the prevalence increased from 4.9 % to 37.0 % in men and 6.0 % to 41.3 % in women (23). A similar increase with age has been reported in other Scandinavian studies (24, 25).

Gallstones are more common in women than in men, in most studies approaching twice that of men (23 - 28). The male to female ratio increases in complicated disease and males may constitute up to 40 % of patients with cholecystitis (29, 30).

Apart from increasing prevalence with age, gallstones have been associated with high serum triglycerides, smoking, number of pregnancies and body mass index (31).

Natural history

Abdominal pain is frequent in a general population (32). The annual prevalence ranges from 38 % in men to 49 % in women and is most often located to the upper abdomen. An ultrasonographic screening study found that the frequency of abdominal symptoms was the same in patients with and without gallstones (33) and argued that the majority of gallstones are silent. Imaging will detect

gallstones in many patients with vague abdominal symptoms; the symptoms may be ascribed to the gallstones and lead to cholecystectomy. Pain is the cardinal symptom of gallbladder stone disease, but is not specific and it is sometimes difficult to distinguish between symptomatic and asymptomatic patients (34). Dyspepsia is usually not considered to be a symptom of gallbladder stone disease (23, 27, 35 - 38), but may be associated with gallstones (39). The relief of dyspepsia following cholecystectomy is unreliable (40).

In a follow-up study from 1960 of non-operated people with diagnosed gallstones it was found that very few remained asymptomatic. At least 1/3 developed severe symptoms and 1/5 developed complications. It was stated that "prophylactic removal of the gallbladder will prevent much future morbidity" (41). The same findings was supported by a contemporary study in which 35 % of the non-operated cases developed complications or such severe symptoms that cholecystectomy was performed (42).

More recent reports state that 2 - 4 % of asymptomatic patients will experience biliary pain annually, while the annual rate of gallstone complications is about 1 % (38, 43, 44). An Italian study found a higher risk (44): The cumulative probability of developing biliary colic was 11.9 % at 2 years, 16.5 % at 4 years and 25.8 % at 10 years. The risk of gallstone complication after 10 years was 3 % in asymptomatic patients. Another recent prospective study of 120 asymptomatic patients with gallstones found a 7.6 % cumulative 5 year risk of experiencing biliary colic or a complication of gallstone disease (45).

The risk of developing symptoms have been reported to decline after the first years of follow-up, and the majority of people with gallstones remain asymptomatic (33, 38, 43). Consequently, about 1/3 of patients with gallstones will experience pain caused by the stones or a stone related complication (28, 42, 46, 47).

Patients with symptomatic, uncomplicated gallbladder stones (SGBS) have been found to have a higher risk of developing gallstone complications than asymptomatic patients (43), in one paper this risk was found to be 6.5 % after 10 years (44).

The general opinion is that the risk of recurrent complications of gallstone disease is high following AC. This is however based on data from the pre-ultrasonographic era where the risk of recurrent disease was found to be 32 - 36 % (48, 49). Recent reports are not available, but papers that compare early to delayed surgery state that the risk of recurrent AC while waiting for cholecystectomy ranges from 2% to 24% (50 - 54).

Treatment of gallstone disease, current trends and scientific basis

Symptomatic, uncomplicated gallstones

According to current opinion cholecystectomy should be offered to patients with gallstone pain attacks only. Dyspepsia is not considered a valid indication in the absence of pain (55). Some authors report cholecystectomy in patients with acalculous gallbladders and such non-defined entities as "biliary dyskinesia" and "chronic acalculous cholecystitis" (56, 57), but there is no solid scientific basis for such practice.

The recommendations are vague as to whether all patients with SGBS should be offered operation. Some authors argue that the available information is insufficient to make any conclusions about expectant management of symptomatic gallstones (47). Others state that watchful waiting may be tried (58). At the other extreme it has been argued that cholecystectomy does not extend life expectancy and should be offered to patients with debilitating symptoms (pain) only after a thorough preoperative selection bearing in mind that psychic vulnerability may predict a poor symptomatic outcome (59).

Laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy

Following the introduction of laparoscopy a few papers have addressed symptomatic outcome (absence of biliary pain) in SGBS. So far there is no evidence to suggest that laparoscopic surgery is superior to open cholecystectomy in this regard. Outcome has been investigated in a retrospective fashion with 6 months follow-up (60) and in a prospective trial with 12 month follow-up (61) and was not affected by surgical access. In van der Velpen's trial a satisfactory cosmetic outcome as appreciated by the patients were significantly more common in the laparoscopic group (60). A prospective trial that examined Quality of Life (QoL) after open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy found no significant differences between the two groups (62).

There is evidence that minimal invasive surgery is superior in terms of immediate postoperative pain. Similarly the length of hospital stay is significantly shorter after laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy (57, 63). The same applies for return to full activity or work (60, 62). These findings

have been substantiated in other randomized clinical trials (RCT's) (64 - 66), but hospital stay and convalescence is known to be influenced by medical and cultural tradition (67).

Minilaparotomy cholecystectomy

Minilaparotomy cholecystectomy through a 5 - 10 cm incision was developed in the 1980's, but was soon overshadowed by laparoscopic cholecystectomy. The two techniques have been compared in RCT's (68, 69) and the only difference in outcome was operating time (laparoscopic cholecystectomy > minilaparotomy cholecystectomy) and time to return to normal activities (minilaparotomy cholecystectomy > laparoscopic cholecystectomy). One year after cholecystectomy, the symptomatic outcome was the same regardless of access (70).

Acute cholecystitis

A consensus document from 1993 stated that "Gallstone complications are all potentially life threatening and almost always merit prompt treatment", i.e. cholecystectomy (9). The statement reflects the present treatment policy (71 - 74).

About 70 years ago surgeons started debating which treatment was best for AC. Early surgery was more favoured in the USA, the arguments being that it reduced the risk of perforation and shortened the duration of the disease and the hospital stay. On the other hand, UK surgeons tended to be more conservative owing to the fact that the perforation rate was low (by some reported to be less than 1%). Surgery carried a risk of biliary injury and other complications and in the majority of patients the disease settled on conservative management (75). Most reported that the risk of perforation was about 7 - 11% (16, 48, 75) and the risk was at its highest 4 - 7 days after start of symptoms (16). In addition, cholecystectomy performed later than 7 days after onset of symptoms was found to be more challenging due to necrosis, abscesses in the gallbladder wall and fibrosis and thus carried a higher risk of septic and operative complications (16, 17).

In the interwar years, the trend in Scandinavia was to treat AC by delayed surgery or conservative treatment (48, 49, 76). Conservative treatment without subsequent cholecystectomy was not an uncommon treatment into the late 1950's (48). Generally, it was reported that ³/₄ of patients could be

treated successfully with or without antibiotics, emergency cholecystectomy being necessary in about 10 % (75).

Timing of operation

The first RCT comparing early to delayed cholecystectomy was published in 1970 (54). It was found that an erroneous diagnosis would sooner be rectified if an early operation was performed. Similarly patients waiting for delayed operation risked recurrent disease and had a longer overall hospital stay and absence from work.

Several prospective trials were published following this seminal paper. Two RCT's which both defined "early" surgery within 7 days of onset of symptoms and "late" at least two months following AC showed that conservative treatment failed in 9 – 13 % of patients. In the waiting time for deferred surgery up to 15 - 24 % of patients experienced renewed symptoms or recurrent AC (51, 52). None of the trials found any difference in intraoperative or postoperative complications between the two groups. Another non-randomized, prospective trial published in 1983 comparing early to delayed open cholecystectomy confirmed these findings (77).

A report from 1981 suggested that the trials comparing early to delayed operation were biased with regard to which of the two operations being the most challenging, and that the results simply reflected the pre-trial routine and selection in the respective hospitals (78).

New trials were carried out after the introduction of laparoscopic cholecystectomy and by this time (early 1980's) ultrasonography had become a widespread diagnostic tool. As in the earlier trials, conservative treatment failed in 14 - 26 % of patients randomized to delayed surgery and overall hospital stay was significantly shorter in early surgery (50, 53, 79).

Today, the professional consensus is that early operation is the treatment of choice as delayed surgery carries a risk of failure of conservative treatment, recurrent symptoms or AC while waiting for operation and a longer overall hospital stay and greater overall costs. A 2002 survey reported that 88 % of UK general surgeons prefer delayed cholecystectomy in AC (80). The situation in Norway is probably the same, although no corresponding survey has been performed.

Open versus laparoscopic cholecystectomy

Initially, laparoscopic surgery was considered to be contraindicated in acute AC (81). The procedure is more challenging in acute cholecystitis than in uncomplicated disease due to adhesions, inflammation and distortion of the normal anatomy.

In a prospective comparison of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in AC and SGBS, the risk of bile duct injuries was found to be 5.5 % in patients with AC and only 0.2 % in SGBS patients (82). A US review of 30211 cholecystectomies comparing open cholecystectomies from the pre-laparoscopic era with laparoscopic cholecystectomies found that the overall risk of bile duct injuries initially increased after the introduction of laparoscopy, but then decreased. Eventually no difference was detected between open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Despite this the risk of major bile duct injuries was increased in laparoscopy for complicated disease (AC and gallstone pancreatitis) and occurred in 0.51 % of patients, while the corresponding numbers in open surgery was 0.26 % (a statistically significant difference). The decrease in overall risk of bile duct injuries were attributed to increased surgeon experience (83).

A retrospective review of laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy found a significantly higher risk of intraoperative complications in laparoscopy, while the risk of cardiopulmonary and gastrointestinal complications were significantly higher following open operations (57). Others have reported that there has been no change in the rate of complications (84 - 86) or operative mortality (63, 87) after the introduction of laparoscopy.

An evaluation of patients undergoing cholecystectomy for AC found that the need for conversion and postoperative complications were associated with the degree of inflammation and patient characteristics (88). They have suggested an individualized approach to early open or laparoscopic surgery, recommending open surgery in severe disease (severity determined by c-reactive protein (CRP), white blood cell count and duration of symptoms) or unfavourable circumstances (high age, sex (male) and low physical status classification). Much the same findings have been reported elsewhere (89). Conversion rates vary widely, from around 15 % to more than 40 % (53, 85, 86, 90, 91).

Percutaneous cholecystostomy

It has been reported that urgent or early cholecystectomy in old, high risk patients with complicated cholecystitis carries a high risk of mortality (>10 %) (92). This has also been reported in non-operative management of other types of gallstone complications (71). Percutaneous cholecystostomy has since it was introduced in 1980 (93) been shown to be an alternative to cholecystectomy in such patients as decompression reduces the risk of gallbladder rupture or gangrene. This treatment alternative seems to be superior to medical treatment alone in relieving symptoms and septicaemia with an acceptable rate of complications (0 - 12 %) (22, 94 - 96). The complications are mainly related to displacement of the catheter with or without bile leaks or haemorrhage. Some authors recommend deferred cholecystectomy following resolution of the acute disease (94, 95), although the necessity of this has been questioned by others as many of these patients are of high operative risk (22, 96, 97).

Postcholecystectomy pain

It is known that 10-20 % of patients have persistent symptoms following cholecystectomy (40, 60, 98 - 101), and this has resulted in the term "postcholecystectomy syndrome". The "syndrome" is not well defined, and there is no consensus regarding its symptoms or cause(s). The term is applied to persisting or new abdominal pain following cholecystectomy. Even though new diagnostic tools (ultrasonography, ERCP) have been developed to improve the diagnostic accuracy, the rate of postcholecystectomy symptoms has been constant over the last 30 – 40 years.

In a review of 23 papers (mostly cohort studies), it was found that 92 % were relieved of "biliary pain" following cholecystectomy. The relief rate of non-specific upper abdominal pain ranged from 57 % - 88 %, while relief for dyspepsia ranged from 46 % - 89 % (102). Other retrospective trials do also report that following surgery, pain is cured more frequently than other symptoms (60, 100).

A follow-up of patients that underwent cholecystectomy for SGBS and AC found that patients with SGBS were more likely than AC patients to consider themselves cured or significantly improved after operation. The authors argue that if poor selection of patients is a cause of postcholecystectomy syndrome, the chances of cure should be higher after cholecystectomy for AC (103). Another paper with a prospective design came to an opposite conclusion (101).

Organic disease

There is a definitive, but small risk of biliary injury in cholecystectomy, but in most papers the risk is reported to be less than 1 % (104). Residual common bile duct stones are marginally more common (< 2 %) (61, 105). Disease in neighbouring organs may lead to biliary-like pain. Diettrich and coworkers did an interesting study in which upper endoscopy was performed in patients with symptomatic cholelithiasis awaiting cholecystectomy. Pathology was found in about 1/3 (including reflux oesophagitis, different degrees of gastritis, stomach and duodenal ulcer etc.) The findings resulted in cholecystectomy being cancelled in some patients (106). Similar findings have been reported in another paper that recommended that endoscopy should be performed in all patients scheduled for elective cholecystectomy even if it rarely (7 %) led to a change in treatment (107).

Dyspepsia

Although the general opinion is that dyspepsia is not, or only to a limited extent affected by cholecystectomy it has been shown that patients with functional dyspepsia have decreased vagal tone, larger antral volumes and dyspeptic symptoms induced by intake of meat soup when compared to healthy individuals. The same characteristics have been found in patients with symptomatic gallstones, suggesting a common pathogenic mechanism in functional dyspepsia and SGBS (108).

Sphincter of Oddi dysfunction

Sphincter of Oddi dysfunction (SOD) has been put forward as one of the causes of postcholecystectomy symptoms. The aetiology is unknown and it is categorized as a functional disorder (109).

One study reported that all patients with SOD I or II were cured after spinchterotomy (110), but reality is probably more sober. Two RCT's have shown that spinchterotomy significantly improved symptoms in patients with an elevated sphincter of Oddi basal pressure (SOD I, > 40 mmHg), but has no apparent effect in patients with a normal basal pressure (SOD II - III) (111). It has been suggested SOD may be part of a generalized intestinal dysmotility (112, 113).

Psychological factors

Psychiatric medication is a predictor of persistent pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy (101).

Psychological factors influence outcome after cholecystectomy (114), and a plethora of different

theories have been set forth to explain this, whether it be psychic vulnerability (99), high levels of somatization and depression (113) or psychic vulnerability (115). One unifying theory suggests that positive coping resources negatively correlate with pain and vice versa (116).

Physiologic changes after cholecystectomy

Findings indicate that in some patients with duodenogastric reflux, the reflux increases significantly after cholecystectomy (117). It has been suggested that colonic passage is accelerated after cholecystectomy (118), but it is uncertain whether this leads to diarrhoea or other symptoms (119). It is unlikely that such changes can attribute to postcholecystectomy pain. There is indication that an impaired proximal gastric function is involved in gallstone disease as part of a motility disturbance (108).

Issues in the management of gallstone disease

Around 1990, when the present studies were planned, it was generally accepted that surgery was indicated in the majority of patients with symptomatic gallstones. Patients with non-complicated disease should undergo surgery after referral or admission and those with acute cholecystitis would benefit from early surgery. Non-operative treatment was not really considered to be an option, the consensus was that it led to unnecessary suffering due to persisting symptoms and recurrent, potentially life threatening complications. Still, trials that would aid the physician in giving qualified advice to his/her patient about the condition and the risk involved in non-operative treatment were lacking.

Without proper concern for these facts the international surgical community was responsible for increasing cholecystectomy rates after laparoscopic cholecystectomy gained popularity in the end of the 1980's (56, 57, 63, 87, 120, 121). In some centres the increase exceeded 50 %. The increase in cholecystectomy rates has apparently been driven by the novelty and fascination of a new technique.

The increase has been marked in young females with symptomatic, uncomplicated disease (57, 87), while the cholecystectomy rates of complicated disease has remained unchanged. A study from 43 US tertiary-care Veterans Administration medical centres found no increase in cholecystectomy rates as opposed to that reported in the private sector and questions the apparent change in indications in the private sector following introduction of laparoscopy (84).

In the Nordic countries the increase in numbers of procedures have been reported to be 20 to 30 % in Denmark and Sweden (55, 122, 123) and close to 50 % in Norway (124). The cholecystectomy rates range from 6.2 per 10000 in Norway to 14.2 per 10000 in Finland (10).

Unfortunately, the technical advances have not led to a similar surge in research on the clinical aspects of the diseases and a sound scientific basis for treatment. The indication for operation in complicated and non-complicated disease is still based on historical papers and dogma. Generally the risk of postcholecystectomy symptoms is not considered in the preoperative assessment of gallstone patients.

The time was overdue for the first ever randomized trials to compare observation to cholecystectomy in patients with symptomatic, uncomplicated gallstone disease and acute cholecystitis.

Aim of studies

The primary aim of the trials was to observe the natural course of symptomatic, non-complicated gallstone disease (pain attacks only) and acute calculous cholecystitis (complicated disease) and compare conservative treatment to cholecystectomy.

The need for cholecystectomy, rate of gallstone related events (gallstone related complications and admissions for biliary pain) and postoperative complications were the primary outcome measures.

The secondary aim was to assess the impact of the diseases by comparing symptoms (pain) and quality of life by multiple longitudinal observations, including a survey of postcholecystectomy pain.

Patients and methodological concerns

Design of study

During the planning stages for the trials, one of the major problems was to estimate sample size. At that time only limited available numerical information was available on the risk of subsequent gallstone related complications in SGBS if not treated by cholecystectomy. Most of the papers on this subject were written in the era before ultrasonography and ERCP and could therefore not form a reliable basis for estimation of number of patients required.

Our secondary aim was to compare symptomatic relief in the two groups of patients, and from earlier reports on postcholecystectomy pain 80 % of the patients were expected to be free of pain after cholecystectomy. To the best of our knowledge the symptomatic results after non-operative treatment had until recently never been reported (24).

The same questions had to be addressed for AC. As for SGBS, little information existed on QoL or pain, but it was generally accepted that the risk of gallstone related complications were higher after conservative treatment of AC. Several studies comparing early to delayed surgery or reporting on conservative treatment of AC have shown that up to 36 % of patients will have recurrent AC or another type of gallstone related event (48 - 54).

For these reasons no formal power calculations were performed, but it was assumed that 200 patients with SGBS and 200 with AC would be sufficient to draw reliable conclusions.

There were some concerns as to how long follow-up period was needed. Theoretically a 6-12 month period would be sufficient to observe a difference in symptoms, but a longer period was clearly needed to assess potential differences in risk of gallstone complications. In the end it was agreed that a 5-year follow-up period was sufficient.

Number of patients randomized

The number of patients included in the two trials never reached the optimistic aim of 400 patients. A high number of patients were excluded; in all 317 of 518 patients (61 %). One-hundred-and-thirty-seven of 338 SGBS patients (41 %) and 64 of 180 AC patients (36 %) were randomized. Such a high

number of exclusions is a weakness. However, similar problems have been noted by other authors reporting from a RCT in gallstone patients (125). Nor is it uncommon for papers not to state the numbers of exclusions (126, 127).

About one third of the exclusions were due to predefined criteria (116 of 317 (37 %)), but higher in AC than in SGBS as complications were more common (localized peritonitis, suspected CBD stone, acalculous cholecystitis) and the patients were generally older (> 80 years of age). In the SGBS group, patients with minimal or no symptoms were not assessed. One-hundred-and-two of 317 (32 %) excluded patients had rather unexpectedly strong treatment preferences, especially the patients in the SGBS group were favouring operative treatment. Altogether 69 patients (22 %) had such severe symptoms that randomization was considered unethical.

The number of patients randomized could have been increased by making the inclusion period longer, but for practical purposes and to avoid changes in treatment policy the period was not extended beyond 2.5 years.

Distribution of and response to survey measures

The original intention was to distribute all the QoL (Psychological general well-being index (PGWB) and Nottingham health profile part II (NHP)) and pain questionnaires (Visual analogue pain scale (VAPS) and an ad hoc pain score) to the patients at 6, 12 and 60 months following randomization, and the pain questionnaires at 24 months as well. As a number of patients were expected to crossover between the randomized groups, it was also intended to redistribute the questionnaires to these patients at 6, 12 and 24 months following cholecystectomy. Unfortunately, this had to be abandoned quite early in the course of the trial as limited resources restricted the use of auxiliary staff to keep track of replies and to make repeated requests to patients not returning the questionnaires. Thus, the questionnaires were distributed at 6, 12, and 60 months following randomization only.

With hindsight, one may argue that three forms (PGWB, NHP and pain score) and a VAPS were too much of a burden for patients to fill out on at least four occasions. Patient interest dwindled over time, on the other hand getting patients to attend the outpatient clinic at the closing of the trial hardly

posed any problems and only one patient was lost to follow-up. The percentage of questionnaires returned by patients remained fairly high throughout the trial. A regular and more direct contact between patient and physician would probably have resulted in even higher numbers. It has been noted by others that patients do not tolerate repeated questionnaires, especially longer ones (128). If the questionnaire is self-administered an even lower response rate may be expected (129).

Quality of life and pain surveys

Quality of life

Traditionally the impact of illness has been measured by clinical and laboratory indicators. QoL surveys were introduced in the early 1970s to incorporate the patients own perspective (128). The simplest definition of quality of life is subjective well-being (130), but includes numerous dimensions such as "love and affection, self-respect and self-satisfaction, challenge and stimulation, social acceptance, achievement and job satisfaction, individuality, involvement and participation, comfort, economic well-being and good health, novelty and change, dominance, superiority, independence and privacy" (131). The five essential features of a quality of life instrument are face validity, reliability, responsiveness (sensitivity to change), appropriateness and practicality. (132).

Although the wider definition differs between authors most incorporate the following: 1) Quality of life is a subjective phenomenon. 2) Although quality of life can be defined in terms of global happiness or satisfaction, this global perception is influenced by numerous dimensions of life such as those described above. 3) Satisfaction or happiness with life is determined by the difference between one's perceived needs or expectations in each domain compared to what one actually possesses or achieves in that domain (133). Obviously QoL assessment is complex and the patient's response to components may not only change due to a perceived change in QoL but also through adaptation, coping, and expectations (128).

The idea is to measure health related quality of life as opposed to global QoL. QoL can be measured by a generic or a disease specific instrument. No gallstone specific instrument was available at the start of our trial. A disease specific instrument was published in 1996, but to our knowledge it has never been widely accepted and applied (134). A disease specific instrument is more responsive to change, with the main disadvantage that it makes comparisons across diseases impossible.

A review paper published in 2001 found after searching Medline only 20 papers that measured QoL in a valid fashion in randomized surgical trials. Five of the papers were design studies that did not report results. In altogether 10 of the 20 papers the QoL results were determined important enough to affect clinical practice (135). QoL is important for measuring the impact of chronic disease. The goal of QoL measures is to differentiate between people with better or worse QoL and to measure change over time (129).

The few trials that have studied QoL or pain in gallstone patients have to our knowledge only investigated QoL or pain at two points, before and after treatment. A few RCT's exist, covering symptomatic outcome (ESWL vs. laparoscopic.cholecystectomy (136), ESWL vs. open cholecystectomy (137), laparoscopic vs. minilaparotomy cholecystectomy (postoperative assessment only) (70), and early vs. delayed laparoscopic cholecystectomy in AC (preoperative assessment not complete) (126). The remaining non-randomized papers covers symptomatic outcome (40, 60, 98 – 101, 105, 138, 139) or QoL outcome (62, 82, 114, 140 - 144) after cholecystectomy in a controlled or non-controlled fashion. Not all of these papers have preoperative assessments of pain or QoL and the follow-up is, with few exceptions, generally short.

The PGWB index (145) and NHP (146) (see later) were introduced in the mid 1980's and both have been widely used. Since the start of our trials they have been replaced by newer instruments: the generic Medical Outcomes Study Short-Form 36 (SF-36) in 1992 (147) and the GastroIntestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI) in 1995 (148), both being the two most widely used today. Individualised measures, where patients specify and score important areas of life are receiving more attention, but it has been noted that due to the individual nature the analysis is more complex (149).

PGWB

Most generic QoL measures investigate several domains: physical, psychological, social, somatic, and spiritual (150), but the PGWB is centred on psychological domains. The following domains are covered: anxiety, depressed mood, positive well-being, self-control, general health, vitality. The score ranges from 22 to 132, with higher ranges indicating high quality of life. The PGWB has been translated to several languages and has been found to have good reproducibility, internal consistency, validity and responsiveness (151).

NHP

Nottingham Health Profile is a generic health-related QoL measure. We only used part II which consisted of seven questions on how disease affected job of work, looking after the house, social life, home life, sex life, interests and hobbies or holidays. NHP II covers areas that the PGWB does not, namely physical impact of disease. NHP has been translated to several European languages and has been extensively tested (152).

Pain

Pain is one of the most important determinants of quality of life (150) and is the cardinal symptom of gallstone disease. Unidimensional tools, like VAPS have been shown to be sensitive to differences in pain intensity (153) and earlier trials have found it to have a high degree of reliability (154). The limitation is that some patients find the concept too abstract, and ratings across groups of patients may be affected as individuals interpret the scale differently (155).

Multidimensional tools have been developed, including the Brief Pain inventory (BPI) (156) introduced in the late 1980s. This is a recognised pain measurement tool that records information on history, intensity, location and quality of pain, but unfortunately, this and others had until recently not been validated in Norwegian (157). For this reason, we used an ad Hoc multidimensional pain measurement tool which consisted of four items related to gallstone pain: intensity of pain last week, duration of pain last week, frequency of pain past 6 months and use of analgesics past 6 months). All items were scored by the use of a five-step scale (Likert format, 0 – 4) and the sum ranged from 0 – 16, the higher range indicated frequent and severe pain attacks. The tool has not been formally validated, but was found to have a fair internal consistency (Table I) and correlated well to the VAPS (Table II).

Table I. Internal consistency of the survey measures at randomization.

| | Cronbach's alfa | Number of items |
|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| PGWB (n=192) | 0.9497 | 22 |
| NHP (n=160) | 0.7870 | 7 |
| PAIN SCORE (n=197) | 0.7617 | 4 |
| | | |

Table II. Correlation (construct validity) of survey measures at randomization using Pearson's correlation coefficient.

| | | PGWB* | NHP | Pain score |
|----------------|---------------------|---------|-------|------------|
| VAPS (n = 195) | Pearson correlation | -0.437 | 0.216 | 0.722 |
| | p-value | <0.0001 | 0.007 | <0.0001 |
| | n | 187 | 159 | 195 |

^{*} PGWB scores opposite of the other survey measures.

Statistics

In the papers we have used Fisher's exact test to compare the difference in events and postoperative complications between the randomized groups. Fisher's exact test for categorical data is assumed to be more suitable for use with small expected frequencies than the chi square test.

Reciprocal Kaplan-Meier survival curves were used to visualize the cumulative probability of having a cholecystectomy in the randomized groups of SGBS and AC patients. A log-rank test (Mantel-Cox) was used to compare the groups.

When comparing the frequencies of two types of pain within a group (paper V), we used the one-sample binomial test which measures whether the proportion of two categorical variables significantly differs from a hypothesized proportion (0.5).

The linear mixed-effects model

The analysis of multiple measures as in the QoL and pain surveys is complex and few models are available, most are dependent on balanced data. The linear mixed-effects model has not the same restrictions and can handle unpaired responses and cases with missing data.

It is a flexible tool for estimating linear models for a continuous response variable from data sampled from normal distributions. In this model response from a subject are thought to be the linear sum of so-called fixed and random effects, hereby the term 'mixed'. If an effect, such as treatment group or time in our case, affects the population mean, it is fixed. If an effect is associated with a sampling procedure (e.g. subject effect), it is random. In the mixed-effects model, random effects contribute only to the covariance structure of the data. The presence of random effects, however, often introduces correlation between observations as well. Though the fixed effects are the primary

in the same subject. In our analyses we have assumed a first-order covariance structure between a subject's responses (on QoL, pain) at the four time points (0, 6, 12 and 60 months from randomization). Estimates were obtained applying the restricted maximum likelihood (REML) method, and the assumption of normality assumed to be approximately fulfilled.

Results and discussion

Symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stone disease, papers I & III

Events and complications

When the study was planned the natural history of symptomatic, uncomplicated gallstone disease was largely unknown (46). Our findings indicate that non-operative treatment carries a low risk of complications, confirming the results of non-controlled studies (35, 38, 43, 44). We found a significant difference in events (admissions for pain or gallstone-related events; observation group 15/69, operation group 3/68) between patients randomized to observation or operation (P = 0.0043). Only 3 out of the 15 events in the 69 patients randomized to observation were gallstone complications, the rest were admissions for pain. If analysed with gallstone complications as endpoint, the results show no significant difference between the two groups (observation group 3/69, operation group 1/68, Fisher's exact test; P = 0.62).

One may argue that to get a total view of the burden on the patients, it would be more sensible to include events and postoperative complications in the analysis. Such a setup is outlined in the last column in Table III. An analysis of this yields a significant difference between the groups randomized to observation or operation with more events in the observation group (P = 0.007, Fisher's exact test). Again, the admissions for pain in the group randomized to observation constitute the majority of the difference between the two groups.

We expected a number of patients to withdraw from the two randomized groups. In the end eight of the patients randomized to cholecystectomy (12 %) did not undergo operation while 35 of patients randomized to observation (51 %) later had their gallbladders removed. The cumulative risk of having a cholecystectomy levelled off after four years and we found a significant difference in the cholecystectomy rate in the two groups (log-rank test (Mantel-Cox) P < 0.0001).

Quality of life and pain

Although there was a significant difference in events (mainly admissions for pain) and numbers of cholecystectomies between the two randomized groups, we found no differences in QoL and pain. Significant improvements in quality of life and pain scores were detected regardless of treatment,

with the marked positive changes found 6 months after randomization. The results did not change if the patients were grouped according to actual outcome (observation or operation). In this regard, the findings are not unlike those reported in trials comparing ESWL to cholecystectomy that found marked improvement in pain in both groups following treatment (136, 137).

Interestingly, the patients that subsequently experienced gallstone related events scored significantly higher on pain at randomization than patients that did not experience any later events. A similar observation was noted in a paper published in 1968 (158). The difference in pain was maintained throughout the follow-up period. Intuitively, one would expect persisting pain in patients treated in a non-operative fashion, but most of these patients later had a cholecystectomy. At randomization, sixty-seven of all 137 patients reported a VAPS equal to or in excess of 50. Of these, 50 patients (75%) eventually had a cholecystectomy. In patients with persisting chronic pain one may speculate if this was due to neuropathic pain caused by prolonged preoperative damage to the gallbladder. This may complicate the decision making and as warned by others preoperative prediction of outcome after cholecystectomy is uncertain (40). More research is needed to develop a prognostic scoring system that can be employed in routine use.

Table III. Number of patients with gallstone events and postoperative complications and cumulative risk of events and postoperative complications.

| Preoperative | Postoperative | Operated | Major | All events and |
|--------------|---------------|-------------------|--|--|
| events | events | | postoperative | major |
| | | | complications | postoperative |
| | | | | complications |
| No. | No. | No. (%) | No. | No (%) |
| 15 | 0 | 35 (51) | 5 | 19 (28)* |
| 2 | 1 | 60 (88) | 3 | 6 (9) |
| 25 | 0 | 127 (63) | 8 | 30 (15)** |
| | No. | No. No. 15 0 2 1 | events events No. No. (%) 15 0 35 (51) 2 1 60 (88) | events events postoperative complications No. No. (%) No. 15 0 35 (51) 5 2 1 60 (88) 3 |

^{*)} One patient with preoperative event and major postoperative complications. **) Three patients with preoperative events and major postoperative complications.

Conclusion

Symptomatic patients with uncomplicated gallstone disease have a low risk of subsequent gallstone related complications. Operation is not warranted just to further reduce this risk. According to our findings symptoms vary and may improve with time. Therefore a wait-and-see policy appears safe. Patients with initially high intensity and frequency of pain are more likely later to experience gallstone pain. Persisting pain following cholecystectomy is not uncommon, and we did not find any significant effect of cholecystectomy on QoL and pain.

Acute cholecystitis, papers II and IV

Events and complications

In AC, randomized trials have focused on early versus delayed surgery (53), concluding that surgery is warranted in order to avoid further complications of gallstone disease. We found no significant difference in gallstone related events between the two randomized groups (P = 0.16). Contrary to the findings in the SGBS group, the events were mainly gallstone complications (16 out of 23 events in 18 patients; 12/33 patients in the observation group and 6/31 in the operation group). It may be argued that it is well known that patients waiting for delayed surgery are at risk of recurrent symptoms or disease (50, 53) This risk may theoretically be eliminated if the design of the trial had been early as opposed to delayed cholecystectomy. However, not all patients scheduled for early operation will eventually have a cholecystectomy (79).

As for patients with SGBS, the two randomized groups were analysed in an alternative fashion including all gallstone related events and major postoperative complications, as outlined in the last column of Table IV. We found no significant difference between the two groups (Fisher's exact test, P = 0.42).

As noted by others (77, 159), some patients eventually refused delayed surgery, probably due to minimal symptoms. Twenty-seven of 31 patients (87 %) randomized to operation had a cholecystectomy at a median of 3.6 months after randomization. Ten patients randomized to observation later had their gallbladders removed, leaving 70 % (23 of 33) with an intact gallbladder.

The difference in number of operations between the two groups was significant (log-rank test (Mantel-Cox), P < 0.0001)).

Quality of life and pain

There was a significant improvement in both QoL and pain six months following randomization.

There was no significant difference between the two randomized groups, nor when patients were grouped according to the final operative outcome (+ / - cholecystectomy).

The improvement in QoL and pain was the same in patients with AC and SGBS and we believe that this may partly be explained by a genuine improvement and partly by regression towards the mean. Regression towards the mean is a problem in serial measurements, making natural variation in repeated data look like real change. Extreme measurements tend to be followed by measurements that are closer to the mean (160).

Randomization is the best way to separate the genuine effect of treatment from the effect of regression towards the mean (161). A few trials have compared QoL in symptomatic and asymptomatic patients following cholecystectomy and concluded that the gain is higher in symptomatic patients (143, 144), but both of these trials were uncontrolled. A randomized trial by Johansen et al. comparing pain and QoL in patients with AC randomized to early or delayed operation (126), reported a non-significantly higher QoL one month following delayed operation, but paradoxically this group of patients had significantly more abdominal symptoms. A major weakness of the trial is that it is a postoperative survey only.

Although SGBS patients that subsequently experienced gallstone related events scored significantly higher on pain at randomization than patients that did not experience any events, no such corresponding difference were found in patients with AC (p-values Pain score: 0.35; VAS: 0.484; PGWB 0.027; NHP: 0.012).).

Table IV. Number of AC patients with gallstone events and postoperative complications and cumulative risk of events and postoperative complications.

| Randomization | Preoperative | Postoperative | Operated | Major | All events and |
|--------------------|--------------|---------------|----------|---------------|----------------|
| | events | events | | postoperative | major |
| | | | | complications | postoperative |
| | | | | | complications |
| | No. | No. | No. (%) | No. | No. (%) |
| Observation (n=33) | 11 | 1 | 10 (30) | 1 | 12 (36)* |
| Operation (n=31) | 5 | 1 | 27 (87) | 3 | 8 (26)* |
| Excluded (n=116) | 16 | 3 | 43 (37) | 6 | 23 (20)** |

^{*)} One patient in each group with postoperative event and major postoperative complication. **) Two patients with preoperative events and major postoperative complications.

Conclusion

We found that conservative, non-operative treatment of AC carried a non-significant risk of a subsequent gallstone related event, but this did not influence the symptomatic outcome as assessed by QoL and pain measurements. Patients should receive information on the risks of conservative management and cholecystectomy need not be compulsory after AC.

Postcholecystectomy pain, paper V

All patients considered for participation in the two trials were interviewed concerning their symptoms. Pain was categorised mainly according to its localisation (right subcostal region) and whether it was accompanied by referred pain (shoulder, back) or other symptoms (dyspepsia, nausea etc.). It soon became apparent that the symptoms needed to be addressed in a more thorough and systematic fashion and a new questionnaire was developed for the five-year follow-up. This questionnaire included detailed information on accompanying dyspepsia, factors that may provoke pain, and the duration, localisation and intensity of pain.

During interviews with patients, we found that two patterns of pain existed: pain attacks and a more diffuse type of pain. Both types of pain were located in the right subcostal or midline epigastric area. Pain attacks were episodic, usually increasing gradually to peak intensity where it normally was quite

steady until it subsided similarly. It lasted more than 30 minutes and up to six hours and was usually accompanied by nausea and anorexia. The pain attacks were often referred to the back in the region under the right shoulder blade. The diffuse type of pain was steady, persisting and of lower intensity.

The questionnaire was used in the five-year follow-up consultation. The incidence of postcholecystectomy abdominal pain was 27 % in our series (34 / 124). Although this is not the first series with a five-year follow-up (162), most other series report shorter follow-up (24 - 36 months) (105;138). It is interesting that pain persisted for such a long period of time following surgery (median 61 months (range 3 - 91)). The majority of patients were women (78 / 124), but we found no difference in incidence of pain between the sexes. Interestingly, the diffuse type of pain was significantly more common than pain attacks in women, especially in younger women (< 60 years of age). Similar findings and characteristics of pain have been reported by others (105, 138). Although it has been established that not all patients are cured of pain after cholecystectomy, few studies have tried to identify preoperative factors that may predict the outcome after surgery. A Danish study concluded that the presence of psychic vulnerability and dyspepsia, high frequency of pain attacks and a long history of gallstone pain indicated higher risk of poor symptomatic outcome after cholecystectomy (139).

Conclusion

All our patients were thoroughly assessed on inclusion, and no patients with dubious symptoms (dyspepsia or vague pain, only) were entered in the trails. Thus, despite a very careful selection of patients it is disappointing that the frequency of postoperative pain was the same as reported by others. In order to decipher postcholecystectomy pain, we suggest that preoperative pain needs further classification and comparison with postoperative complaints.

Summary

- The risk of gallstone complications was low in patients with SGBS and the prevention of complications should not in itself be an indication for operation.
- II. SGBS patients with high frequency and intensity of pain at randomization were more likely later to experience gallstone events than other patients. Throughout follow-up, these patients had a persisting higher level of pain than other patients even though most of them eventually had a cholecystectomy.
- III. In patients with SGBS we found no difference in symptomatic outcome (QoL and pain) between the randomized groups, or when analysed according to final outcome (observation versus operation). In most patients, the symptoms varied and waned over time. Thus, a wait-and-see policy may be a reasonable option to cholecystectomy.
- IV. In AC, observation carried a higher (although non-significant) risk of gallstone events than operation, and there was no mortality in any group. Almost all events in AC were complications of gallstone disease as opposed to what found in patients with SGBS where most events were admissions for pain. As the risk of gallstone complications is moderate, conservative treatment and observation may be an option in AC.
- V. The symptomatic outcome (QoL and pain) in AC was the same regardless of randomization group and final outcome (observation or operation).
- VI. Postcholecystectomy symptoms and its causes are still an enigma. We suggest that preoperative gallstone pain needs further classification and comparison with postoperative complaints.

Errata

Paper II:

Page 988, first column, first paragraph under *Events during follow-up*: P = 0.13 is incorrect and should read P = 0.061. The analysis in the second paragraph is correct (P = 0.16). Page 988, second column, first paragraph. The analysis of major complications is correct (P = 1.00),

but the analysis of minor complications (P = 0.66) is incorrect and should be replaced by P = 0.4.

Paper III:

Page 272, second column, second paragraph under *Gallstone-related events, cholecystectomy and postoperative complications*. The stated P is incorrect (P = 0.011) and should read P = 0.0043, thus there is a significant difference between the two groups (see page 35 in thesis, Events and complications, first paragraph).

References

- 1. Jastrow M. Medicine of Babylonians and Assyrians. Proc R Soc Med 1914; 7(2):109-176.
- 2. Robinson JO. Part I: Historical Introduction. In: Robinson JO, editor. Silvergirl's surgery the biliary tract. Austin: Silvergirl, Inc., 1985: 3.
- Thudicum JLW. Digest of historical literature. A treatise on gall-stones, their chemistry, pathology, and treatment. London, 1863.
- Petit JL. [On tumors formed by bile retained in the gallbladder which have often been mistaken for abscesses of the liver]. Memoires de l'Academie Royale de Chirurgie 1743; 1:155-187.
- 5. von Winiwarter A. [A case of bile retention caused by choledochal obstruction construction of a gallbladder-intestinal fistula.-Healing]. Prager Medicinische Wochenschrift 1882; 7:201.
- Langenbuch C. Ein Fall von Extirpation der Gallenblase wegen chronischer Cholelithiasis.
 Berliner Klinische Wochenschrift 1882; 48:725-727.
- 7. Kümmell H. [Surgery of the gallbladder]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1890; 16:237.
- 8. Mayo W. Innocent gallstones a myth. JAMA 1911; 56:1021-1024.
- NIH Consensus conference. Gallstones and laparoscopic cholecystectomy. JAMA 1993;
 269(8):1018-1024.
- Mjaland O, Adamsen S, Hjelmquist B, Ovaska J, Buanes T. Cholecystectomy rates, gallstone prevalence, and handling of bile duct injuries in Scandinavia. A comparative audit. Surg Endosc 1998; 12(12):1386-1389.
- Sadler TW. Digestive system. Langman's Medical Embryology. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1984: 224-246.

- 12. Ness TJ, Gebhart GF. Visceral pain: a review of experimental studies. Pain 1990; 41(2):167-234.
- 13. Middelfart HV, Jensen P, Hojgaard L, Funch-Jensen P. Pain patterns after distension of the gallbladder in patients with acute cholecystitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 1998; 33(9):982-987.
- Zollinger R. Observations following distension of the gallbladder and common duct in man.
 Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1933; 30:1260-1261.
- 15. Zollinger R, Walter C.W. Localization of pain following faradic stimulation of the common bile duct. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1936; 30:267-268.
- 16. Wall CA, Weiss RM. Early operation for acute cholecystitis. Arch Surg 1958; 77(3):433-438.
- 17. Edlund Y, Olsson O. Acute cholecystitis; its aetiology and course, with special reference to the timing of cholecystectomy. Acta Chir Scand 1961; 120:479-494.
- Badke A, Schwenk W, Bohm B, Stock W. Histopathologische Veranderungen von Gallenblase und Leberparenchym bei symptomatischer Cholelithiasis. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1993; 118(22):809-813.
- Gilliland TM, Traverso LW. Cholecystectomy provides long-term symptom relief in patients with acalculous gallbladders. Am J Surg 1990; 159(5):489-492.
- Csendes A, Smok G, Burdiles P, Diaz JC, Maluenda F, Korn O. Histological findings of gallbladder mucosa in 95 control subjects and 80 patients with asymptomatic gallstones. Dig Dis Sci 1998; 43(5):931-934.
- Cheung LY, Chang FC. Intravenous cholangiography in the diagnosis of acute cholecystitis.
 Arch Surg 1978; 113(5):568-570.
- Andren-Sandberg A, Haugsvedt T, Larssen TB, Sondenaa K. Complications and late outcome following percutaneous drainage of the gallbladder in acute calculous cholecystitis.
 Dig Surg 2001; 18(5):393-398.
- 23. Glambek I, Kvaale G, Arnesjo B, Soreide O. Prevalence of gallstones in a Norwegian population. Scand J Gastroenterol 1987; 22(9):1089-1094.

- Borch K, Jonsson KA, Zdolsek JM, Halldestam I, Kullman E. Prevalence of gallstone disease in a Swedish population sample. Relations to occupation, childbirth, health status, life style, medications, and blood lipids. Scand J Gastroenterol 1998; 33(11):1219-1225.
- Jorgensen T. Prevalence of gallstones in a Danish population. Am J Epidemiol 1987;
 126(5):912-921.
- Prevalence of gallstone disease in an Italian adult female population. Rome Group for the Epidemiology and Prevention of Cholelithiasis (GREPCO). Am J Epidemiol 1984; 119(5):796-805.
- 27. The epidemiology of gallstone disease in Rome, Italy. Part I. Prevalence data in men. The Rome Group for Epidemiology and Prevention of Cholelithiasis (GREPCO). Hepatology 1988; 8(4):904-906.
- Berndt H, Nurnberg D, Pannwitz H. Pravalenz der Cholelithiasis. Ergebnisse einer epidemiologischen Studie mittels Sonographie in der DDR. Z Gastroenterol 1989; 27(11):662-666.
- Russell JC, Walsh SJ, Reed-Fourquet L, Mattie A, Lynch J. Symptomatic cholelithiasis: a different disease in men? Connecticut Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy Registry. Ann Surg 1998; 227(2):195-200.
- 30. Lein HH, Huang CS. Male gender: risk factor for severe symptomatic cholelithiasis. World J Surg 2002; 26(5):598-601.
- The epidemiology of gallstone disease in Rome, Italy. Part II. Factors associated with the disease. The Rome Group for Epidemiology and Prevention of Cholelithiasis (GREPCO).
 Hepatology 1988; 8(4):907-913.
- 32. Kay L, Jorgensen T, Jensen KH. Epidemiology of abdominal symptoms in a random population: prevalence, incidence, and natural history. Eur J Epidemiol 1994; 10(5):559-566.
- Glambek I, Arnesjo B, Soreide O. Correlation between gallstones and abdominal symptoms in a random population. Results from a screening study. Scand J Gastroenterol 1989; 24(3):277-281.

- 34. Jorgensen T. Abdominal symptoms and gallstone disease: an epidemiological investigation. Hepatology 1989; 9(6):856-860.
- Kraagg N, Thijs C, Knipschild P. Dyspepsia--how noisy are gallstones? A meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies of biliary pain, dyspeptic symptoms, and food intolerance. Scand J Gastroenterol 1995; 30(5):411-421.
- 36. Price Wh. Gall-bladder Dyspepsia. BMJ 1963; 2:138-141.
- 37. Diehl AK, Sugarek NJ, Todd KH. Clinical evaluation for gallstone disease: usefulness of symptoms and signs in diagnosis. Am J Med 1990; 89(1):29-33.
- 38. Sama C, Barbara L, Festi D, Frabboni R, Morselli Labate AM, Nacchiero MC et al. Natural history of gallstone disease: the Sirmione study. In: Capocaccia L, et al, editors. Recent advances in the epidemiology and prevention of gallstone disease. Lancaster, UK: Kluwer academic publishers, 1991: 51-55.
- 39. Barbara L, Camilleri M, Corinaldesi R, Crean GP, Heading RC, Johnson AG et al. Definition and investigation of dyspepsia. Consensus of an international ad hoc working party. Dig Dis Sci 1989; 34(8):1272-1276.
- 40. Bates T, Ebbs SR, Harrison M, A'Hern RP. Influence of cholecystectomy on symptoms. Br J Surg 1991; 78(8):964-967.
- 41. Lund J. Surgical indications in cholelithiasis. Ann Surg 1960; 151(2):153-162.
- 42. Wenckert A, Robertson B. The natural course of gallstone disease: eleven-year review of 781 nonoperated cases. Gastroenterology 1966; 50(3):376-381.
- Friedman GD, Raviola CA, Fireman B. Prognosis of gallstones with mild or no symptoms: 25 years of follow-up in a health maintenance organization. J Clin Epidemiol 1989; 42(2):127-136.
- 44. Attili AF, De Santis A, Capri R, Repice AM, Maselli S. The natural history of gallstones: the GREPCO experience. The GREPCO Group. Hepatology 1995; 21(3):655-660.

- 45. Halldestam I, Enell EL, Kullman E, Borch K. Development of symptoms and complications in individuals with asymptomatic gallstones. Br J Surg 2004; 91(6):734-738.
- McSherry CK, Ferstenberg H, Calhoun WF, Lahman E, Virshup M. The natural history of diagnosed gallstone disease in symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. Ann Surg 1985; 202(1):59-63.
- 47. Gracie WA, Ransohoff DF. Natural History and Expectant Management of Gallstone
 Disease. In: Cohen S, Soloway D, editors. Gallstones. New York: Churchill Livingstone,
 1985: 27-43.
- 48. Lyndrup S, Kristensen K. Konservativ cholecystitisbehandling. Ugeskr Laeger 1957; 119:743-754.
- 49. Liedberg N. Klinische Studien über die akute Cholecystitis. Acta Chir Scand 1937; suppl. 47.
- Lai PB, Kwong KH, Leung KL, Kwok SP, Chan AC, Chung SC et al. Randomized trial of early versus delayed laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis. Br J Surg 1998; 85(6):764-767.
- 51. Jarvinen HJ, Hastbacka J. Early cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis: a prospective randomized study. Ann Surg 1980; 191(4):501-505.
- Lahtinen J, Alhava EM, Aukee S. Acute cholecystitis treated by early and delayed surgery. A controlled clinical trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 1978; 13(6):673-678.
- Johansson M, Thune A, Blomqvist A, Nelvin L, Lundell L. Management of acute cholecystitis
 in the laparoscopic era: results of a prospective, randomized clinical trial. J Gastrointest Surg
 2003; 7(5):642-645.
- 54. van der Linden W, Sunzel H. Early versus delayed operation for acute cholecystitis. A controlled clinical trial. Am J Surg 1970; 120(1):7-13.
- 55. Jorgensen T. Treatment of patients with non-complicated gallbladder stones. Treatment of Gallstone patients. A health technology assessment. Copenhagen: National institute of public health and Danish institute for health technology assessment, 2000: 47-91.

- 56. Johanning JM, Gruenberg JC. The changing face of cholecystectomy. Am Surg 1998; 64(7):643-647.
- 57. Shea JA, Berlin JA, Bachwich DR, Staroscik RN, Malet PF, McGuckin M et al. Indications for and outcomes of cholecystectomy: a comparison of the pre and postlaparoscopic eras. Ann Surg 1998; 227(3):343-350.
- Ransohoff DF, Gracie WA. Treatment of gallstones. Ann Intern Med 1993; 119(7 Pt 1):606-619.
- 59. Middelfart HV, Jensen PM, Hojgaard L, Kehlet H. Ukomplicerede galdeblaeresten: Hvem skal opereres? Ugeskr Laeger 1997; 159(20):2992-2998.
- van der Velpen G, Shimi SM, Cuschieri A. Outcome after cholecystectomy for symptomatic gall stone disease and effect of surgical access: laparoscopic v open approach. Gut 1993; 34(10):1448-1451.
- Peterli R, Schuppisser JP, Herzog U, Ackermann C, Tondelli PE. Prevalence of postcholecystectomy symptoms: long-term outcome after open versus laparoscopic cholecystectomy. World J Surg 2000; 24(10):1232-1235.
- Ludwig K, Patel K, Wilhelm L, Bernhardt J. Prospektive Analyse zur Outcomebewertung nach laparoskopischer versus konventioneller Cholecystektomie. Zentralbl Chir 2002; 127(1):41-46.
- 63. McMahon AJ, Fischbacher CM, Frame SH, MacLeod MC. Impact of laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a population-based study. Lancet 2000; 356(9242):1632-1637.
- Berggren U, Gordh T, Grama D, Haglund U, Rastad J, Arvidsson D. Laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy: hospitalization, sick leave, analgesia and trauma responses. Br J Surg 1994; 81(9):1362-1365.
- 65. Jan YY, Chen MF. Laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy: a prospective randomized study. J Formos Med Assoc 1993; 92 Suppl 4:S243-S249.

- 66. Trondsen E, Reiertsen O, Andersen OK, Kjaersgaard P. Laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy. A prospective, randomized study. Eur J Surg 1993; 159(4):217-221.
- 67. Bisgaard T, Kehlet H, Rosenberg J. Pain and convalescence after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Eur J Surg 2001; 167(2):84-96.
- Majeed AW, Troy G, Nicholl JP, Smythe A, Reed MW, Stoddard CJ et al. Randomised, prospective, single-blind comparison of laparoscopic versus small-incision cholecystectomy.
 Lancet 1996; 347(9007):989-994.
- Ros A, Gustafsson L, Krook H, Nordgren CE, Thorell A, Wallin G et al. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy versus mini-laparotomy cholecystectomy: a prospective, randomized, single-blind study. Ann Surg 2001; 234(6):741-749.
- McMahon AJ, Ross S, Baxter JN, Russell IT, Anderson JR, Morran CG et al. Symptomatic outcome 1 year after laparoscopic and minilaparotomy cholecystectomy: a randomized trial.
 Br J Surg 1995; 82(10):1378-1382.
- 71. Arthur JD, Edwards PR, Chagla LS. Management of gallstone disease in the elderly. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2003; 2003 Mar;85(2):91-96.
- 72. Persson GE, Ros AG, Thulin AJ. Surgical treatment of gallstones: changes in a defined population during a 20-year period. Eur J Surg 2002; 168(1):13-17.
- 73. Johnson CD. ABC of the upper gastrointestinal tract. Upper abdominal pain: Gall bladder. BMJ 2001; 323(7322):1170-1173.
- du Plessis DJ, Jersky J. The management of acute cholecystitis. Surg Clin North Am 1973;
 53(5):1071-1077.
- 75. Burnett W. The management of acute cholecystitis. Aust N Z J Surg 1971; 41(1):25-30.
- 76. Ehnmark E. The gallstone disease. A clinical-statistical study. Acta Chir Scand 1939; suppl.57.
- 77. Norrby S, Herlin P, Holmin T, Sjodahl R, Tagesson C. Early or delayed cholecystectomy in acute cholecystitis? A clinical trial. Br J Surg 1983; 70(3):163-165.

- 78. van der Linden W, Edlund G. Early versus delayed cholecystectomy: the effect of a change in management. Br J Surg 1981; 68(11):753-757.
- Lo CM, Liu CL, Fan ST, Lai EC, Wong J. Prospective randomized study of early versus delayed laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis. Ann Surg 1998; 227(4):461-467.
- 80. Cameron IC, Chadwick C, Phillips J, Johnson AG. Current practice in the management of acute cholecystitis. Br J Surg 2000; 87(3):362.
- 81. Svanvik J. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis. Eur J Surg 2000; Suppl 585:16-17.
- 82. Kum CK, Eypasch E, Lefering R, Paul A, Neugebauer E, Troidl H. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis: is it really safe? World J Surg 1996; 20(1):43-48.
- Russell JC, Walsh SJ, Mattie AS, Lynch JT. Bile duct injuries, 1989-1993. A statewide experience. Connecticut Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy Registry. Arch Surg 1996; 131(4):382-388.
- 84. Chen AY, Daley J, Pappas TN, Henderson WG, Khuri SF. Growing use of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the national Veterans Affairs Surgical Risk Study: effects on volume, patient selection, and selected outcomes. Ann Surg 1998; 227(1):12-24.
- 85. Lujan JA, Parrilla P, Robles R, Marin P, Torralba JA, Garcia-Ayllon J. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy vs open cholecystectomy in the treatment of acute cholecystitis: a prospective study. Arch Surg 1998; 133(2):173-175.
- 86. Koperna T, Kisser M, Schulz F. Laparoscopic versus open treatment of patients with acute cholecystitis. Hepatogastroenterology 1999; 46(26):753-757.
- 87. Steiner CA, Bass EB, Talamini MA, Pitt HA, Steinberg EP. Surgical rates and operative mortality for open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy in Maryland. N Engl J Med 1994; 330(6):403-408.

- 88. Schafer M, Krahenbuhl L, Buchler MW. Predictive factors for the type of surgery in acute cholecystitis. Am J Surg 2001; 182(3):291-297.
- Bickel A, Rappaport A, Kanievski V, Vaksman I, Haj M, Geron N et al. Laparoscopic management of acute cholecystitis. Prognostic factors for success. Surg Endosc 1996; 10(11):1045-1049.
- Kiviluoto T, Siren J, Luukkonen P, Kivilaakso E. Randomised trial of laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy for acute and gangrenous cholecystitis. Lancet 1998; 351(9099):321-325.
- Johansson M, Thune A, Nelvin L, Stiernstam M, Westman B, Lundell L. Randomized clinical trial of open versus laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the treatment of acute cholecystitis. Br J Surg 2005; 92(1):44-49.
- Addison NV, Finan PJ. Urgent and early cholecystectomy for acute gallbladder disease. Br J Surg 1988; 75(2):141-143.
- 93. Radder RW. Ultrasonically guided percutaneous catheter drainage for gallbladder empyema.

 Diagn Imaging 1980; 49(6):330-333.
- 94. Borzellino G, de Manzoni G, Ricci F, Castaldini G, Guglielmi A, Cordiano C. Emergency cholecystostomy and subsequent cholecystectomy for acute gallstone cholecystitis in the elderly. Br J Surg 1999; 86(12):1521-1525.
- 95. Kim KH, Sung CK, Park BK, Kim WK, Oh CW, Kim KS. Percutaneous gallbladder drainage for delayed laparoscopic cholecystectomy in patients with acute cholecystitis. Am J Surg 2000; 179(2):111-113.
- 96. Hamy A, Visset J, Likholatnikov D, Lerat F, Gibaud H, Savigny B et al. Percutaneous cholecystostomy for acute cholecystitis in critically ill patients. Surgery 1997; 121(4):398-401.
- Melin MM, Sarr MG, Bender CE, van Heerden JA. Percutaneous cholecystostomy: a valuable technique in high-risk patients with presumed acute cholecystitis. Br J Surg 1995; 82(9):1274-1277.

- Fenster LF, Lonborg R, Thirlby RC, Traverso LW. What symptoms does cholecystectomy cure? Insights from an outcomes measurement project and review of the literature. Am J Surg 1995; 169(5):533-538.
- 99. Jorgensen T, Teglbjerg JS, Wille-Jorgensen P, Bille T, Thorvaldsen P. Persisting pain after cholecystectomy. A prospective investigation. Scand J Gastroenterol 1991; 26(1):124-128.
- 100. Konsten J, Gouma DJ, von Meyenfeldt MF, Menheere P. Long-term follow-up after open cholecystectomy. Br J Surg 1993; 80(1):100-102.
- 101. Luman W, Adams WH, Nixon SN, Mcintyre IM, Hamer-Hodges D, Wilson G et al. Incidence of persistent symptoms after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective study. Gut 1996; 39(96):863-866.
- 102. Berger MY, Olde Hartman TC, Bohnen AM. Abdominal symptoms: do they disappear after cholecystectomy? Surg Endosc 2003; 17(11):1723-1728.
- 103. Middelfart HV, Kristensen JU, Laursen CN, Qvist N, Hojgaard L, Funch-Jensen P et al. Pain and dyspepsia after elective and acute cholecystectomy. Scand J Gastroenterol 1998; 33(1):10-14.
- 104. Buanes T, Mjaland O, Waage A, Langeggen H, Holmboe J. A population-based survey of biliary surgery in Norway. Relationship between patient volume and quality of surgical treatment. Surg Endosc 1998; 12(6):852-855.
- 105. Ure BM, Troidl H, Spangenberger W, Lefering R, Dietrich A, Eypasch EP et al. Long-term results after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Br J Surg 1995; 82(2):267-270.
- 106. Diettrich H, Wundrich B, Kobe E, Noack S, Weber K. Die Gastroskopie vor der Cholecystektomie. Gastroenterol J 1990; 50(4):173-174.
- Rassek D, Osswald J, Stock W. Die routinemassige Gastroskopie vor Cholecystektomie.
 Chirurg 1988; 59(5):335-337.
- 108. Hausken T, Sondenaa K, Svebak S, Gilja OH, Olafsson S, Odegaard S et al. Common pathogenetic mechanisms in symptomatic, uncomplicated gallstone disease and functional

- dyspepsia: volume measurement of gallbladder and antrum using three-dimensional ultrasonography. Dig Dis Sci 1997; 42(12):2505-2512.
- 109. Corazziari E, Shaffer EA, Hogan WJ, Sherman S, Toouli J. Functional disorders of the biliary tract and pancreas. Gut 1999; 45 Suppl 2:II48-II54.
- 110. Cicala M, Habib FI, Vavassori P, Pallotta N, Schillaci O, Costamagna G et al. Outcome of endoscopic sphincterotomy in post cholecystectomy patients with sphincter of Oddi dysfunction as predicted by manometry and quantitative choledochoscintigraphy. Gut 2002; 50(5):665-668.
- Craig AG, Toouli J. Sphincterotomy for biliary sphincter of Oddi dysfunction. Cochrane
 Database Syst Rev 2001;(3):CD001509.
- 112. Evans PR, Bak YT, Dowsett JF, Smith RC, Kellow JE. Small bowel dysmotility in patients with postcholecystectomy sphincter of Oddi dysfunction. Dig Dis Sci 1997; 42(7):1507-1512.
- 113. Desautels SG, Slivka A, Hutson WR, Chun A, Mitrani C, Di Lorenzo C et al.
 Postcholecystectomy pain syndrome: pathophysiology of abdominal pain in sphincter of Oddi type III. Gastroenterology 1999; 116(4):900-905.
- 114. Stefaniak T, Vingerhoets A, Babinska D, Trus M, Glowacki J, Dymecki D et al. Psychological factors influencing results of cholecystectomy. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004; 39(2):127-132.
- 115. Lorusso D, Porcelli P, Pezzolla F, Lantone G, Zivoli G, Guerra V et al. Persistent dyspepsia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. The influence of psychological factors. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003; 38(6):653-658.
- 116. Svebak S, Sondenaa K, Hausken T, Soreide O, Hammar A, Berstad A. The significance of personality in pain from gallbladder stones. Scand J Gastroenterol 2000; 35(7):759-764.
- 117. Cabrol J, Navarro X, Simo-Deu J, Segura R. Evaluation of duodenogastric reflux in gallstone disease before and after simple cholecystectomy. Am J Surg 1990; 160(3):283-286.
- 118. Fort JM, Azpiroz F, Casellas F, Andreu J, Malagelada JR. Bowel habit after cholecystectomy: physiological changes and clinical implications. Gastroenterology 1996; 111(3):617-622.

- 119. Hearing SD. Effect of cholecystectomy on bowel function: a prospective, controlled study.

 Gut 1999; 45(6):889-894.
- 120. Lam CM, Murray FE, Cuschieri A. Increased cholecystectomy rate after the introduction of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in Scotland. Gut 1996; 38(2):282-284.
- Legorreta AP, Silber JH, Costantino GN, Kobylinski RW, Zatz SL. Increased cholecystectomy rate after the introduction of laparoscopic cholecystectomy. JAMA 1993; 270(12):1429-1432.
- 122. Blomqvist P, Ljung H, Nilsson E, Ekbom A. Cholecystectomy in Sweden 1989 and 1994: long admissions assessed by the inpatient registry. J Clin Epidemiol 2000; 53(11):1174-1180.
- 123. Muhrbeck O, Sahlin S, Ahlberg J. Rise and fall in the number of cholecystectomies: Stockholm 1932-1993. Eur J Surg 1996; 162(3):199-204.
- Bakken IJ, Skjeldestad FE, Mjaland O, Johnson E. Kolecystektomi i Norge i 1990 2002.
 Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2004; 124(18):2376-2378.
- 125. Plaisier PW, Berger MY, van der Hul RL, Nijs HG, den Toom R, Terpstra OT et al. Unexpected difficulties in randomizing patients in a surgical trial: a prospective study comparing extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy with open cholecystectomy. World J Surg 1994; 18(5):769-772.
- 126. Johansson M, Thune A, Blomqvist A, Nelvin L, Lundell L. Impact of choice of therapeutic strategy for acute cholecystitis on patient's health-related quality of life. Results of a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Dig Surg 2004; 21(5):359-362.
- 127. Chandler CF, Lane JS, Ferguson P, Thompson JE, Ashley SW. Prospective evaluation of early versus delayed laparoscopic cholecystectomy for treatment of acute cholecystitis. Am Surg 2000; 66(9):896-900.
- 128. Wood-Dauphinee S. Assessing quality of life in clinical research: from where have we come and where are we going? J Clin Epidemiol 1999; 52(4):355-363.

- 129. Gyatt GH, Feeny DH, Patrick DL. Measuring health-related quality of life. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118(8):622-629.
- 130. Cohen SR, Mount BM, MacDonald N. Defining quality of life. Eur J Cancer 1996; 32A(5):753-754.
- 131. Cantril H. The pattern of human concerns. New Brunswick, New Jersey: Rutgers university press, 1965.
- 132. Velanovich V. The quality of quality of life studies in general surgical journals. J Am Coll Surg 2001; 193(3):288-296.
- 133. Anderson KL, Burckhardt CS. Conceptualization and measurement of quality of life as an outcome variable for health care intervention and research. J Adv Nurs 1999; 29(2):298-306.
- 134. Russell ML, Preshaw RM, Brant RF, Bultz BD, Page SA. Disease-specific quality of life: the Gallstone Impact Checklist. Clin Invest Med 1996; 19(6):453-460.
- 135. Clifton JC, Finley RJ. Quality-of-life measurement in surgical randomized controlled trials. J Invest Surg 2001; 14(5):253-258.
- 136. Plaisier PW, van der Hul RL, Nijs HG, den Toom R, Terpstra OT, Bruining HA. The course of biliary and gastrointestinal symptoms after treatment of uncomplicated symptomatic gallstones: results of a randomized study comparing extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy with conventional cholecystectomy. Am J Gastroenterol 1994; 89(5):739-744.
- 137. Nicholl JP, Brazier JE, Milner PC, Westlake L, Kohler B, Williams BT et al. Randomised controlled trial of cost-effectiveness of lithotripsy and open cholecystectomy as treatments for gallbladder stones. Lancet 1992; 340(8823):801-807.
- 138. Ros E, Zambon D. Postcholecystectomy symptoms. A prospective study of gall stone patients before and two years after surgery. Gut 1987; 28(11):1500-1504.
- 139. Borly L, Anderson IB, Bardram L, Christensen E, Sehested A, Kehlet H et al. Preoperative prediction model of outcome after cholecystectomy for symptomatic gallstones. Scand J Gastroenterol 1999; 34(11):1144-1152.

- 140. Carrilho-Ribeiro L, Serra D, Pinto-Correia A, Velosa J, De Moura MC. Quality of life after cholecystectomy and after successful lithotripsy for gallbladder stones: a matched-pairs comparison. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 14(7):741-744.
- 141. Velanovich V. Laparoscopic vs open surgery: a preliminary comparison of quality-of-life outcomes. Surg Endosc 2000; 14(1):16-21.
- 142. Habu Y, Matsui T, Hayashi K, Watanabe Y, Kawai K. [A clinical decision analysis to assess therapeutic modalities for symptomatic gallstones with respect to patient's quality of life and cost-effectiveness]. Nippon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi 1993; 90(11):2895-2908.
- 143. Bülent Mentes B, Akin M, Irkörücü O, Tatlicioglu E, Ferahköse Z, Maral I. Gastrointestinal quality of life in patients with symptomatic or asymptomatic cholelithiasis before and after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc 2001; 15(11):1267-1272.
- 144. Quintana JM, Arostegui I, Cabriada J, Lopez dT, I, Perdigo L. Predictors of improvement in health-related quality of life in patients undergoing cholecystectomy. Br J Surg 2003; 90(12):1549-1555.
- 145. Dupuy HJ. The Psychological General Well-Being (PGWB) Index. In: Wenger NK, Mattson ME, Furburg CD, Elinson J, editors. Assessment of quality of life in clinical trials of cardiovascular therapies. New York: Le Jacq Publications, 1984: 170-183.
- 146. Hunt SM, McEwen J, McKenna S. Measuring health status. London: Crom Helm Publishers,1986.
- Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I.
 Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992; 30(6):473-483.
- 148. Eypasch E, Williams JI, Wood-Dauphinee S, Ure BM, Schmulling C, Neugebauer E et al. Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index: development, validation and application of a new instrument. Br J Surg 1995; 82(2):216-222.
- 149. Carr AJ, Higginson IJ. Are quality of life measures patient centred? BMJ 2001;322(7298):1357-1360.

- 150. Katz N. The impact of pain management on quality of life. J Pain Symptom Manage 2002; 24(1 Suppl):S38-S47.
- 151. Hanestad BR. The PGWB. In: Hutchinson A, Bentzen N, Konig-Zahn C, editors. Cross cultural health outcome assessment. Groningen: European research group on health outcomes, 1995: 121-126.
- 152. Hanestad BR. The NHP. In: Hutchinson A, Bentzen N, Konig-Zahn C, editors. Cross cultural health outcome assessment. Groningen: European research group on health outcomes, 1995: 87-93.
- 153. Rosier EM, ladarola MJ, Coghill RC. Reproducibility of pain measurement and pain perception. Pain 2002; 98(1-2):205-216.
- 154. Price DD, McGrath PA, Rafii A, Buckingham B. The validation of visual analogue scales as ratio scale measures for chronic and experimental pain. Pain 1983; 17(1):45-56.
- 155. Briggs M, Closs JS. A descriptive study of the use of visual analogue scales and verbal rating scales for the assessment of postoperative pain in orthopedic patients. J Pain Symptom Manage 1999; 18(6):438-446.
- 156. Cleeland CS. Measurement of pain by subjective report. In: Chapman CR, Loeser JD, editors. Advances in pain research and management, vol 12. Issues in pain management. New York: Raven Press, 1989: 391-403.
- 157. Caraceni A, Cherny N, Fainsinger R, Kaasa S, Poulain P, Radbruch L et al. Pain measurement tools and methods in clinical research in palliative care: recommendations of an Expert Working Group of the European Association of Palliative Care. J Pain Symptom Manage 2002; 23(3):239-255.
- 158. Newman HF, Northup JD, Rosenblum M, Abrams H. Complications of cholelithiasis. Am J Gastroenterol 1968; 50(6):476-496.
- Lindahl F, Cederqvist CS. The treatment of acute cholecystitis. Acta Chir Scand Suppl 1969;
 396:9-15.

- 160. Barnett AG, van der Pols JC, Dobson AJ. Regression to the mean: what it is and how to deal with it. Int J Epidemiol 2005; 34(1):215-220.
- 161. Bland JM, Altman DG. Some examples of regression towards the mean. BMJ 1994; 309(6957):780.
- 162. Ahmed R, Freeman JV, Ross B, Kohler B, Nicholl JP, Johnson AG. Long term response to gallstone treatment--problems and surprises. Eur J Surg 2000; 166(6):447-454.

Papers

- Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Solhaug JH, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stone disease. Operation or observation? A randomized clinical study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2002; 37(7); 834-839.
- II. Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Acute cholecystitis: Delayed surgery or observation.
 A randomized clinical trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003; 38(9):985-990.
- III. Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Eide GE, Solhaug JH, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Pain and quality of life in patients with symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stones: Results of a randomized controlled trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004; 39(3):270-276.
- IV. Vetrhus M, Søreide O, Eide GE, Nesvik I, Søndenaa K. Quality of life and pain in patients with acute cholecystitis. Results of a randomized clinical trial. Scand J Surg 2005; 94(1):34-39.
- V. Vetrhus M, Berhane T, Søreide O, Søndenaa K. Pain persists in many patients five years after removal of the gallbladder: observations from two randomized controlled trials of symptomatic, noncomplicated gallstone disease and acute cholecystitis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2005; 9(6):826-31.